1976

The Boyer Company, a Utah corporation and H. roger Boyer dba The Boyer Company v. E. Keith Lignell and Burton M. Todd : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by plaintiffs to recover from defendants a commission for broker's services rendered by plaintiffs pursuant to two agreements by the terms of which defendants retained plaintiffs to market certain realty.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Following a trial of the case, the lower court entered judgment against plaintiffs and awarded to defendants their costs and certain discovery expenses.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

By this appeal, plaintiffs-appellants seek a reversal of the lower court's judgment and an order directing the lower court to enter judgment in favor of plaintiffs-appellants in the amount of \$28,500.00, together with their costs incurred below, their costs incurred on appeal, and the amounts heretofore paid by them to defendants-respondents for costs and discovery expenses pursuant to the judgment of the lower court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Point III, which is the core of this appeal, presents the issue whether the lower court's finding that defendants did not fail or refuse to cooperate with plaintiffs towards the consummation of the sale of the subject realty is clearly against the weight of the evidence. Due to the nature of Point III and because the finding of the lower court to that effect is stated only as a conclusion and without any articulated factual basis (Finding No.6, R.194), a relatively detailed statement of facts is required.

Plaintiff H. Roger Boyer ("Boyer") is a Utah resident who, since 1972 has been duly licensed by the Real Estate Division of Utah Department of Business Regulation as a real estate broker. (Finding No.3, R.194). The Boyer Company, a Utah corporation, was incorporated on November 8, 1972, and

since that time has remained in good standing. (Finding No. 1, R.193). Boyer, since the inception of The Boyer Company, has been its president and sole stockholder. (T.168-69). Although the lower court concluded that The Boyer Company was not properly licensed as a real estate broker (R.186-87), the Director of the Real Estate Division of Utah testified without contradiction and the lower court tacitly recognized (R.186-87) that The Boyer Company was duly licensed as a broker pursuant to the prevailing and long-established practices of the Real Estate Division. (R.186-87, T.287-88, 299).

Burton M. Todd ("Todd") and E. Keith Lignell ("Lignell") are both dentists who, in addition to their dental practice, engage in extensive realty investment and development together. (T.12-13). At all times material to this action, Todd and Lignell were the owners of the Shaughnessy Apartments, a commercial apartment facility located at 251 South 700 East, Salt Lake City, Utah. (R.14). Todd and Lignell, because of their need for cash in the approximate amount of \$250,000.00, decided to sell the Shaughnessy Apartments in late September of 1973. (T. 24, 258-59, Todd Depo. p.46).

On October 1, 1973, Todd and Lignell entered into a listing agreement (the "Listing Agreement") with Boyer authorizing Boyer to procure a sale of the Shaughnessy Apartments for the sum of \$950,000.00. (T.14-15, Exhibit 1-P) For the convenience of the Court, a copy of the Listing Agreement is included

following the main body of this brief as Exhibit "A." The Listing Agreement rendered any sale of the apartments subject to the approval of the Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company ("Northwestern"), the holder of a mortgage upon the property, and contemplated that any purchaser would assume that mortgage and pay to Todd and Lignell the difference between the mortgage balance and the sales price. Finally, the Listing Agreement provided that Boyer was entitled to a commission of six percent of the sales price (amounting to \$57,000.00) upon completion of the sale and payment by the buyers of the difference between the mortgage balance and the sales price. (Finding No.4, R.194, Exhibit "A" hereto).

The Osmond Brothers is a singing group of national repute consisting of various children of Mr. and Mrs. George V. Osmond, longtime residents of the State of Utah. The Osmond Brothers, a Utah partnership (the "Osmond Brothers") is a vehicle through which the Osmond family has conducted its investment activities. Since early 1972, Douglas L. Callister ("Callister"), a California attorney, and Lew Costley ("Costley"), an Ogden, Utah accountant, have as a practical matter managed the business affairs of the Osmond Brothers with only slight involvement of the general partners of the Osmond Brothers. (T.93-97, 113-16, Callister Depo. pp.28-32).

Between October 1, 1973 and October 11, 1973, Boyer discussed with Callister and Costley the possibility of the

Osmond Brothers purchasing the Shaughnessy Apartments, which discussions culminated in Boyer's preparation of an Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase, which was executed by Costley on behalf of the Osmond Brothers on October 11, 1973. (T.116-18, 132, Callister Depo. pp.8-17). A copy of that Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase (the "Earnest Money Agreement") in its executed final form is for the convenience of the Court included herein following the body of this brief, as Exhibit "B." The Earnest Money Agreement, as executed by Costley, was conditioned upon the buyer's ability to assume Northwestern's mortgage bearing interest at seven percent per annum and the seller's agreement to lease the property back from the buyers for a period of three years. (Finding No.7, R. 194-95, Exhibit 2-P, Exhibit "B" hereto). The Earnest Money Agreement contained an offer to purchase the Shaughnessy Apartments for \$921,500.00, with a commission in the amount of \$28,500.00 payable to The Boyer Company as broker. Boyer had theretofore agreed with George V. Osmond, who is also a licensed real estate broker, evenly to divide the commission from the sale, each party to receive \$28,500.00. (T.98-99, Callister Depo. p.18). Accordingly, the Earnest Money Agreement, like the Listing Agreement, prescribed that Todd and Lignell would receive a net sum after the deduction of all brokers' commissions, of \$921,500.00. Concurrently with their execution of the Earnest Money Agreement, the Osmond Brothers

deposited with Boyer earnest money in the amount of \$5,000.00. (T.111-12, Exhibit 4-P). On October 11, 1973, Boyer delivered to Todd the Earnest Money Agreement. (T.18-19).

On October 11, 1973, Todd and Lignell discussed the Earnest Money Agreement and Todd, in anticipation of certain changes to the Agreement and his expected departure from Salt Lake City, executed the document and placed his initials in the lower right hand corner of the document. (Finding No.8, R.195, T.66). On October 12, 1973, Lignell for both himself and Todd and in the presence of Boyer deleted that portion of the Earnest Money Agreement relating to a lease back of the property by the sellers, initialled the deletion, signed the document, and delivered same to Boyer. (Finding No.9, R.195).

Boyer then returned to his office with the Earnest Money Agreement and telephoned Callister. After Boyer advised Callister of the changes made to the Earnest Money Agreement by Todd and Lignell, Callister on behalf of the Osmond Brothers authorized Boyer to enter into and close the agreement as modified by Todd and Lignell. (T.183-84, Callister Depo. pp.19-22). Within a day or two following Todd and Lignell's execution and modification of the Earnest Money Agreement, Boyer delivered the modified document to Costley. Shortly thereafter, Costley telephoned Callister and in that conversation the two decided that the Osmond Brothers would agree to enter into the Earnest Money Agreement as modified. (T.118-21). On October 15, 1973,

Boyer telephoned Todd and advised him that the Osmond Brothers had accepted the Earnest Money Agreement as modified by Todd and Lignell and desired to effect a closing as soon as possible. (T.184-85). Todd denied that Boyer advised him of the Osmond Brothers' acceptance of the modified Earnest Money Agreement, but testified that Boyer had told him that "it could be worked out." (T.21-23).

Following October 12, 1973, Boyer, Callister, Costley, and the Osmond Brothers believed that a contract had been entered into between the Osmond Brothers and Todd and Lignell represented by the Earnest Money Agreement as modified by Todd and Lignell. (Callister Depo. pp.21-27, T.120-24). Thus, between October 12, and 15, 1973, Boyer discussed with Costley the course that the Osmond Brothers should pursue in disposing of certain liquid assets to procure the down payment prescribed by the Earnest Money Agreement, and Boyer, on October 15, 1973, requested and one day later obtained from Title Insurance Agency an Interim Title Insurance Binder with respect to the Shaughnessy Apartments. (T.185-186; Exhibit 9-P).

On October 15, 1973, Boyer telephoned Todd to discuss the closing of the sale of the Shaughnessy Apartments and Todd agreed to contact Northwestern regarding the arrangement of the Osmond Brothers' assumption of the Northwestern loan (T.26-27, 184-85). Theodore C. MacLeod ("MacLeod"), a resident of Denver, Colorado, is the Regional Manager of Northwestern

and is charged with the responsibility of originating and administrating Northwestern's loans in Utah, among other states. (T.195-96, MacLeod Depo. pp.2-3). Following his conversation with Boyer, Todd telephoned MacLeod and discussed in a general way the possible sale of the Shaughnessy Apartments to the Osmond Brothers, and the alternative approaches available to effectuate an assumption of the loan by the Osmond Brothers in such a transaction. (MacLeod Depo. pp.34-36, 56, T.26-28, 47-48). MacLeod left the conversation "with the ball in [Todd's] court," and with MacLeod expecting Todd to return with a concrete proposal (MacLeod Depo. p.33). Todd, however, testified that in this conversation, MacLeod indicated that Northwestern would not permit the Osmond Brothers to assume the loan absent an increase in the interest rate thereof above seven percent. (T.27).

On October 26, 1973, Todd, Lignell, Boyer, and Earl D. Tanner met for lunch and discussed in the framework of MacLeod's comments the method by which an assumption of the Northwestern loan could be arranged. (T.189). During that conversation, Todd or Lignell indicated that Northwestern may require some additional incentive to consent to the assumption of the loan by the Osmond Brothers. (T.190). On October 29, 1973, Boyer telephoned Todd, and, during that conversation, Todd indicated

that he and Lignell were less excited about closing the sale because of a possible tax consequence of approximately \$145,000.00. (T.160-62, 191-92, Exhibit 10-P). Todd, while acknowledging that he advised Boyer of that tax consequence, indicated that the tax problem did not materialize and played no role in his decision to terminate the transaction. (T.160).

On October 30, 1973, Boyer, Callister and Costley met and discussed the incentives that the Osmond Brothers would be willing to give to induce Northwestern to allow assumption, including prepayment of the 1974 interest on the Northwestern loan, an increased rate of interest on a larger loan, and the like. Boyer relayed these potential incentives to Todd. (T. 137-38, 194-95).

On November 2, 1973, Boyer telephoned MacLeod to determine the status of the proposed assumption. MacLeod refused to discuss this matter in any detail with Boyer, advising Boyer that any such inquiry must come from Todd. (T.196-97 and MacLeod Depo. p.8). MacLeod's understanding and practice in implementing the policies of Northwestern were neither to discuss nor consider any modification of financing arrangements with their borrowers absent authorization from their borrower, with whom they have privity. Boyer then telephoned Todd and inquired why no formal request had been directed to Northwestern to permit assumption. Todd promised to make such written request that day and to provide Boyer with a copy of the letter.

(T.50-51, 197-98). On November 7, 1973, Boyer asked Todd why he had not yet received a copy of Todd's promised letter to MacLeod, and Todd responded that he was awaiting MacLeod's call concerning a possible refinancing of the Shaughnessy Apartments and that Todd and Lignell were considering selling another property to satisfy their cash requirements. (T.152, 198-99, 259-61). Todd never sent the letter that he had promised to send to MacLeod (T.50-51). On November 11, 1973, Boyer again telephoned MacLeod to determine the status of assumption negotiations. MacLeod advised Boyer that Todd was aware of Northwestern's position and that Boyer should direct his inquiry to Todd. (MacLeod Depo. pp.36-37, 59-60). On November 16, 1973, Todd told Boyer that he and Lignell would not proceed with a sale of the Shaughnessy Apartments. (T.29). Boyer requested a letter to that effect from Todd which Todd prepared on November 19, 1973, a copy of which is attached hereto for the Court's convenience following the main body of this brief as Exhibit "C." (T.29, Exhibit 5-P).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN ADOPTING WITHOUT MODIFICATION THE FINDINGS OF FACT PREPARED BY COUNSEL FOR DEFENDANTS AND, AT BEST, SUCH FINDINGS ARE ENTITLED TO LITTLE WEIGHT.

The lower court conducted the trial of this case between

September 22 and 25, 1975. On September 29, 1975, the lower court entered its Memorandum Decision, which enunciated the bases for its decision. (R.186-87). Approximately one month thereafter, counsel for defendants submitted to the lower court Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, which were signed and entered by the lower court without modification. (R.193-97). Plaintiffs timely moved the lower court pursuant to Rule 52(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, to amend the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law theretofore entered by the lower court (R. 200-05), which motion was denied in its entirety by the lower court. (R.215-16).

This Court has long maintained that "[t]he duty of making findings and conclusions is that of the trial court." Merrill v. Bailey & Sons, 99 Utah 323, 106 P.2d 255 (1940). Indeed, that duty is expressly and absolutely imposed upon the trial court by Rule 52(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure:

In all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury, the court shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon. . . .

This Court has not yet spoken to the legal effect of a trial court's mechanical adoption of the findings and conclusions of counsel. Other courts, however, have with good reason condemned the practice:

[A]ppellant's objections were made . . . to . . . proposed findings with which the findings of the district court are apparently identical. We have recently asked for

"brief and pertinent findings of contested matters * * * rather than the delayed, argumentative, overdetailed documents prepared by winning counsel." [Citations omitted]. Otherwise, we lose the benefit of the judge's own consideration. . . .

We stress this matter because of the grave importance of fact-finding. The correct finding, as near as may be, of the facts of a law suit is fully as important as the application of the correct legal rules to the facts found. An impeccably "right" legal rule applied to the "wrong" facts yields a decision which is as faulty as one which results from the application of the "wrong" legal rule to the "right" facts. The latter type of error, indeed, can be corrected on appeal. But the former is not subject to such correction unless the appellant overcomes the heavy burden of showing that the findings of fact are "clearly erroneous". . . .

* * *

The trial court is the most important agency of the judicial branch of the government precisely because on it rests the responsibility of ascertaining the facts. When a federal trial judge sits without a jury, that responsibility is his. And it is not a light responsibility; unless his findings are "clearly erroneous", no upper court may disturb them. To ascertain the facts is not a mechanical act. It is a difficult art, not a science. It involves skill and judgment. As fact-finding is a human undertaking, it can, of course, never be perfect and infallible. For that reason every effort should be made to render it as adequate as it humanly can be. United States v. Forness, 125 F.2d 928, 942-43 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 316 U.S. 694 (1942). [Footnotes omitted].

Other courts have similarly discouraged trial courts' adoption without modification of findings and conclusions submitted by

counsel for the prevailing party. Phillips v. Phillips, 171 Colo. 127, 464 P.2d 876 (1970). (Because of the lower court's mechanical adoption of counsel's findings, "[w]e stretch nearly to the breaking point the presumption that the findings entered by the court were in fact the court's own findings"); Duffin v. Patrick, 212 Kans. 772, 512 P.2d 442 (1973).

In this case, the findings prepared by defendants' counsel, quite predictably, substantially embellished the lower court's Memorandum Decision. Certainly the trial court could not have agreed with each and every one of defendants' findings. The effect is that plaintiffs, and indeed this Court, must speculate as to whether the findings which are challenged through this appeal are those of the lower court or of defendants, while defendants can steadfastly urge that the same are those of the lower court and entitled to a presumption of propriety.

The lower court's findings come to this court endowed with a strong presumption of propriety, requiring a showing that the same are clearly erroneous for reversal. Hardy v. Hendrickson, 27 Utah 2d 251, 495 P.2d 28 (1972). That presumption should not properly attach to the findings of counsel, which are those of an advocate and deprive this Court of the benefit of the lower court's thoughtful reasoning and judgment. Plaintiffs' concern in this respect is one of substance, for the lower court in its Memorandum Decision made no mention of whether defendants cooperated or refused to proceed in connection with the subject

transaction -- the central issue of this appeal. Counsel's findings, however, with no supportive factual determination, baldly state that defendants did not fail or refuse to cooperate or proceed with the transaction.

Plaintiffs desire at this juncture to make absolutely clear that no suggestion is made that counsel for defendants, who are capable, honest, and ethical attorneys for whom we have great regard and respect, have in the slightest acted improperly. Indeed, defendants' counsel in submitting their findings and conclusions merely discharged their duty as advocates. Both on behalf of plaintiffs and as lawyers practicing law in the State of Utah, however, we seek to make this appeal and those that will follow the Court's decision in this case more meaningful by ensuring that the findings that reach this Court are those of the trial court, and not of counsel. For the foregoing reasons, this case should be remanded for proper findings of fact and conclusions of law by the lower court; in any event, the findings of fact herein should not be accorded the usual presumption of validity in this appeal.

POINT II

THE BOYER COMPANY WAS DULY LICENSED AS A REAL ESTATE BROKER.

In its Memorandum Decision, the lower court held:

[t]hat the corporation cannot recover because

said corporation was not licensed as is required by Section 61-2-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, and particularly is this so under 61-2-18.

The Court is not unmindful of the Utah Supreme Court decision in 29 Utah 2d., at page 110, State Board of Education vs. State Board of Higher Education wherein the Court held that long interpretations by administrative bodies can be accepted, in effect, as proper even though technically they are not legal. At least that is the interpretation this Court gets from a reading of that case.

It appeared from the evidence that it has long been the practice of the Real Estate Division of the Department of Business Regulation not to license corporations as brokers. However, the law is clear and unequivocal, and the Court is of the opinion that the corporation is barred from recovery. (R.186-87).

Thus, while the lower court at least implicitly recognized that The Boyer Company had been licensed in accordance with well-established and long standing practices of the Real Estate Division,¹ the lower court concluded, we believe erroneously, that The Boyer Company was not licensed as a broker within the meaning of the applicable statutes.

Section 61-2-18, Utah Code Annotated (Repl.1968) in substance prohibits any suit by any person, partnership, association, or corporation for recovery of a fee for services in

1/ Not surprisingly, the Findings of Fact prepared by counsel for defendants do not include the lower court's factual finding that it has long been the practice of the Real Estate Division not to license corporations as brokers.

connection with sales of realty unless such person is so licensed as a broker at the time of such act. It is undisputed that unless The Boyer Company was licensed as a real estate broker during October and November, 1973, The Boyer Company cannot maintain this action. The issue presented by Point II is whether The Boyer Company was so licensed.

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