1976

# The Boyer Company, a Utah corporation and H. Roger Boyer dba The Boyer Compnay v. L. Keith Lignell and Burton M. Todd : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### ARGUMENT

##### Point 1

THE COURT WAS CORRECT IN ITS ADOPTION OF THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW. SUCH FINDINGS ARE ENTITLED TO GREAT WEIGHT.

On the 29th of September, 1975, the Court rendered its Memorandum Decision, wherein it determined that the claims of plaintiffs should be dismissed with prejudice. Further, the Court requested that defendants' counsel prepare the necessary Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (R. 187-188). This defendants did and submitted them to the Court for its review along with a copy to plaintiffs' counsel (R. 199). The proposed Findings of Fact were signed by the Court on the 28th day of October, 1975. Within the ten day period provided in Rule 52(b), U.R.C.P., plaintiffs filed a "Motion Objecting To and To Amend Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law", wherein most of the issues raised in this appeal were presented to the Court (R. 200-211). Specifically, plaintiffs sought to attack

Finding No. 6, that defendants had exercised good faith, and Finding No. 17, that they were free to terminate the listing agreement -- the same findings attacked herein. In their place plaintiffs proposed, among other things, a finding that defendants had exercised bad faith in their dealings with plaintiffs (R. 203, Proposed Finding 13(g)). Those proposed amendments were rejected by the Trial Court after careful deliberation and hearing argument of counsel. Having failed in a direct attack upon the Findings and Conclusions of the Court, plaintiffs now seek to attack them indirectly by arguing that these Findings and Conclusions should not be entitled to the presumption of validity that is generally accorded to findings and conclusions of the court. See Hardy v. Hendrickson, 27 Ut.2d 251, 492 P.2d 28 (1972); Lynch v. McDonald, 12 Ut.2d 427, 367 P.2d 464 (1962).

The preparation of the proposed findings and conclusions by defendants is in accord with the long established custom of the Court. In reviewing this practice this Court stated in Merrill v. Bailey & Sons Co., 99 Ut. 323, 106 P.2d 255 (1940):

"The duty of making findings and conclusions is that of the trial court. In doing so it has become customary to have the prevailing party submit proposed findings and conclusions, and by rule of court the adverse party may submit objections and proposed amendments thereto--all of which was done in this case."

The practice attacked by plaintiffs is not unique to this state but has been done with approval in many other jurisdictions (See, e.g., Jefferson v. City of Anchorage, 513 P.2d

1099 (Alaska, 1973); Wyoming Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. May, 434 P.2d 507 (Wyo. 1967).

As in the Merrill case, plaintiffs submitted objections and proposed amendments to the Findings and Conclusions entered by the Court. After deliberation and argument the proposed findings of plaintiff were rejected and the proposed findings and conclusions prepared by defendants were reaffirmed. Thus, the Trial Court twice deliberated over the Findings and Conclusions that are being here attacked by appellant, thereby, in respondents' view, not diminishing therefrom as plaintiffs suggest, but rather enhancing the weight that should be given to them.

Plaintiffs attack certain of the findings upon the proposition that they are not specifically mentioned in the Court's Memorandum Decision. The Court, however, clearly stated that its Memorandum Decision was not intended to be exhaustive nor to specifically detail each and every fact upon which it based its decision. The Court therein stated:

"There are many more reasons the court could state for reaching the conclusions as set forth, including reference to the many cases cited by respective counsel." (R. 187).

It is clear that there is no conflict between the Memorandum Decision prepared by the Court and the Findings and Conclusions ultimately entered by it. Even if there had been a conflict, however, under the law of this state, the formal findings must prevail. Park v. Jamieson, 12 Ut.2d 141, 364 P.2d 1 (1961).

It is the well established rule of this state that findings of fact and conclusions of law as entered by the trial court are granted a presumption of validity and unless clearly erroneous should not be overturned. Martin v. Martin, 29 Ut.2d 413, 510 P.2d 1102 (1973). Such presumption must attach to the Findings and Conclusions entered in this case.

#### Point II

THE BOYER COMPANY WAS NOT LICENSED AS A REAL ESTATE BROKER AS REQUIRED BY THE LAWS OF THIS STATE.

Section 61-2-1, U.C.A. provides:

"It shall be unlawful for any person, co-partnership, or corporation to engage in the business, act in the capacity of, advertise, or assume to act as a real estate broker or a real estate salesman within this state without first obtaining a license under the provisions of this chapter." (Emphasis added)

An unlicensed broker is precluded by statute from maintaining an action to recover compensation for any act done or service rendered for which a license is required. Section 61-2-18, U.C.A. states:

"No person, partnership, association, or corporation shall bring or maintain an action in any court in this state for the recovery of commission, a fee, or compensation for any act done or service rendered, the doing or rendering of which is prohibited under the provisions of this act to other than licensed real estate brokers, unless such person was duly licensed hereunder as a real estate broker at the time of such act or the rendering of such service." (Emphasis added)

Both the plaintiffs and defendants agree that if The Boyer Company was not licensed as a real estate broker during

the time in question, the corporation cannot recover herein.<sup>6</sup> This is in conformity with the law of this state relating to compensation for unlicensed activities. See Chase v. Morgan, 9 Ut.2d 125, 339 P.2d 1019 (1959); Mosley v. Johnson, 22 Ut.2d 348, 453 P.2d 149 (1969); Lyman v. Taylor, 14 Ut.2d 362, 384 P.2d 407 (1963); Eklund v. Elwell, 116 Ut. 521, 221 P.2d 849 (1949); Olson v. Reese, 114 Ut. 411, 200 P.2d 733 (1948); Smith v. American Packing & Provision Co., 102 Ut. 351, 130 P.2d 951 (1942).

Plaintiffs herein attempt to fuzz the distinction between H. Roger Boyer, an individual, and The Boyer Company, a corporation. Since a corporation is a separate legal entity, however, that distinction must be kept clearly in mind. 1 Fletcher Cyc. Corp. (Perm. Ed.) 7, p. 37; 16-14-4, U.C.A. The undisputed facts clearly show that H. Roger Boyer, an individual, applied for an individual broker's license on August 18, 1972 (Exhibit 8-P). The application form set forth three categories of licenses that might be obtained -- corporation, partnership or individual. Boyer, in his own handwriting, applied for an individual license (T. 219, Exhibit 8-P). The subject license application further requested disclosure of the name and address of each member or officer if the applicant was a corporation; that portion of the license application was left blank by Boyer. In addition, different affidavits were called for depending on whether the

---

<sup>6</sup>Plaintiffs, on page 16 of their brief, state "It is undisputed that unless The Boyer Company was licensed as a real estate broker during October and November, 1973, The Boyer Company cannot maintain this action."

applicant was a partnership, an individual or a corporation. Boyer filled out the individual affidavit, but left the corporation affidavit blank. The testimony is uncontroverted that the license issued to Boyer was an individual broker's license (T. 220, 222, 277-279).<sup>7</sup>

Subsequent to the date the license application was submitted by Boyer but prior to the time the license was issued, The Boyer Company was incorporated.<sup>8</sup> Subsequent to that date, the individual license of Boyer was renewed by him on January 1, 1973 (T. 222, 278). On December 19, 1973, one month after the proposed sale had been terminated, the Department of Business Regulation, Real Estate Division, received an application prepared by Boyer for the renewal of a real estate broker's license wherein, for the first time, The Boyer Company was designated as a corporation and H. Roger Boyer was designated as an official of that corporation (T. 279, Exhibit 8-P). Thus, it is evident that Boyer appreciated the distinction between The Boyer Company, a corporation, and himself as an individual, and knew that it was necessary to notify the Department of Business Regulation that it was the corporation that was now seeking to obtain a broker's license. In fact, Boyer testified that he was an employee of the

---

<sup>7</sup>Counsel for plaintiffs also recognized that the license as issued was an individual license to Mr. Boyer; as Mr. Rooker stated, "Now if I understand you then the broker license in this instance was issued to Mr. Boyer personally." (T. 268).

<sup>8</sup>The Boyer Company was incorporated on November 8, 1972, some two and a half months after the licensing application was prepared.

corporation from which he merely drew a salary and that any real estate commissions that were earned were commissions earned by the corporation (T. 223).

Although the testimony of Mr. Francis is confusing at best, he apparently was of the opinion that his department made no distinction between an individual and a corporation for licensing purposes. Mr. Francis testified, however, that he had only been the Department Director for a year and a half and had no idea whether his predecessor distinguished between individuals and corporations (T. 285). The documents produced, however, indicated that the Department did make a distinction in that it required different information and different procedures if the applicant were an individual or a corporation. Further evidence indicated that corporate applications were filled out differently than was the application of Boyer, and that the licenses issued to corporations contained different wording (Exhibits 8-P, 23-D and 24-D). Defendants submit that the evidence indicates that the Department clearly distinguished between licenses issued to individuals and corporations, and had done so for a number of years.

Plaintiffs seek to avoid the clear requirement of the law by taking refuge in what plaintiffs claim is a valid interpretation of the law by an administrative agency. Defendants submit that the testimony of Mr. Francis not to the contrary, the Real Estate Board clearly distinguished between individuals and corporations. Mr. Francis testified, however, that even he was not sure of his interpretation and

that he was concerned about it in view of the language of the statutes (T. 273, 272, 269).

Even assuming that the interpretation of the statute by the Department was such as plaintiffs' urge, plaintiffs can take no refuge therein. The clear law of the State of Utah is to the effect that administrative interpretations are not controlling and are not binding upon the Courts, although such interpretations will be given some weight when not out of harmony with the apparent intent of the statute. Kennecott Copper Corp. v. Anderson, 30 Ut.2d 102, 514 P.2d 217 (1973); State v. Hatch, 9 Ut.2d 288, 342 P.2d 1103 (1959). Even the Coleman case, upon which plaintiffs rely, recognizes that an administrative interpretation is of value only when uncertainty exists as to the interpretation of the statute and there is a rational basis for it in the provisions of the law. Even if these two tests are met, however, the administrative interpretation is not controlling. Coleman v. Utah State Land Board, 17 Ut.2d 14, 403 P.2d 781 (1965).

In that portion of its Memorandum Decision relating to the licensing statute, the Court stated:

"However, the law is clear and unequivocal. And the court is of the opinion that the corporation is barred from recovering." (R. 187).

Defendants submit, as the Court found, that the law on this matter is clear and unequivocal. The Legislature specifically provided that corporations must have a real estate broker's license and that if they fail to do so they may not maintain a suit for recovery of compensation based thereon.

That the Legislature contemplated issuing broker's licenses to corporations is further indicated by other provisions of the applicable statutes. Section 61-2-2, U.C.A. includes within the definition of broker "all persons, partnerships, associations and corporations, foreign and domestic," who for a fee sell, rent, exchange, etc. real property. Section 61-2-9(c), U.C.A. provides that:

"Each real estate broker's license granted to any firm, partnership or association consisting of one or more persons, or to a corporation, shall entitle such real estate broker to designate one of its officers or members, who upon compliance with the terms of this chapter shall, without the payment of any further fee, upon issuance of said broker's license, be entitled to perform all of the acts of a real estate salesman contemplated by this chapter." (Emphasis added)

As set forth in the above provision, any firm, partnership or association consisting of one or more persons, or a corporation, to whom a valid broker's license had been issued, can designate an individual within that firm, partnership, association or corporation, to function as a real estate salesman without the necessity of paying an additional fee. Of particular note is the limiting feature of the statute that provides that such privilege is only afforded to organizations consisting of more than one person, or to corporations, it being for the obvious reason that an individual broker would be able to perform the functions of both a broker and a salesman. The statute, therefore, places the corporate broker on an equal basis with the individual broker in that it can both broker and sell property upon the payment of the same fee as is required of an individual.

If any doubt remained that the Legislature made a clear distinction between individuals and corporations for licensing purposes, that doubt is dispelled by the clear wording of the penalty provisions for a violation of the licensing requirements.

Section 61-2-17, U.C.A. provides:

"Any person violating a provision of this act, in addition to being subject to suspension or revocation of license, shall, upon conviction of a first violation thereof, if a person, be punished by a fine of not less than \$100.00, nor more than \$500.00, nor by imprisonment for a term not to exceed ninety days, or both; and if a corporation, be punished by a fine of not more than \$1,000.00. Upon conviction of a second or subsequent violation, if a person, shall be punished by a fine of not less than \$500.00, nor more than \$1,000.00, or by imprisonment for a term not to exceed two years, or both; and if a corporation, be punished by a fine of not less than \$2,000.00, nor more than \$5,000.00. Any officer or agent of a corporation or any member or agent of a partnership or association, who shall personally participate in or be accessory to any violation of this act by such corporation, partnership or association, shall be subject to the penalties herein prescribed for individuals." (Emphasis added)

It is interesting to note that the above statute provides that upon any violation by a person, such person is liable for a fine or imprisonment or both. If, however, the violation is by a corporation, said corporation is subject only to a fine. The corporate fine is, in all cases, greater than the fine provided for a violation by an individual. The Legislature clearly recognized that it would be impossible to imprison a corporation but not an individual, hence, the individual is subject to a fine and imprisonment while the

corporation is only subject to a large fine.

It is also particularly interesting to note that any officer or agent of a corporation who participates in or is an accessory to the violation of the act is subject to the penalties provided for individuals, i.e., fine and imprisonment.

Section 61-2-21, U.C.A. deals with the mechanics for revoking a previously issued license. That section by its specific language relates to persons, partnerships, or corporations, yet another clear indication that the licensing requirements were intended to apply to corporations.

Plaintiffs base their entire argument upon the proposition that Section 61-2-6(a) requires the applicant for a broker's license to pass an examination, provide references, etc., and that thus it is impossible for a corporation to be an applicant. Defendants submit, however, that the testing of the corporation can be accomplished as provided in Section 61-2-9(c), i.e., an official may be designated to represent the corporation in that testing capacity.<sup>9</sup>

In view of the clear language of the statute, and the clear pronouncement of the Legislature that a corporation requires a broker's license, the administrative interpretation advocated by plaintiffs must fail as having no rational basis

---

<sup>9</sup>Defendants submit that in many areas including contracting, engineering and architecture, it has long been the practice of licensing agencies to issue licenses to corporations engaged in those areas. See Section 58-23-10, U.C.A.

in the law.

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